

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Electronic Journal of Biotechnology



Review

Mannheimia haemolytica growth and leukotoxin production for vaccine manufacturing — A bioprocess review



Tobias Oppermann a,b, Nadine Busse b, Peter Czermak a,b,c,*

- ^a Fraunhofer Institute for Molecular Biology and Applied Ecology, Project Group Bioresources, Winchesterstrasse 2, 35394 Giessen, Germany
- b Institute of Bioprocess Engineering and Pharmaceutical Technology, University of Applied Sciences Mittelhessen, Wiesenstrasse 14, 35390 Giessen, Germany
- c Department of Chemical Engineering, Kansas State University, Durland Hall 1005, Manhattan, KS 66506-5102, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 10 April 2017 Accepted 5 June 2017 Available online 10 June 2017

Keywords:
Bovine respiratory disease
Cell growth
Commensal flora of cattle
Enzootic calf pneumonia
Facultatively anaerobic
Gram-negative
Leukotoxin production
Mastitis in sheep
Operational parameters
Mannheimia haemolytica
Rod-shaped bacteria

ABSTRACT

Mannheimia haemolytica leukotoxin (LKT) is a known cause of bovine respiratory disease (BRD) which results in severe economic losses in the cattle industry (up to USD 1 billion per year in the USA). Vaccines based on LKT offer the most promising measure to contain BRD outbreaks and are already commercially available. However, insufficient LKT yields, predominantly reflecting a lack of knowledge about the LKT expression process, remain a significant engineering problem and further bioprocess optimization is required to increase process efficiency. Most previous investigations have focused on LKT activity and cell growth, but neither of these parameters defines reliable criteria for the improvement of LKT yields. In this article, we review the most important process conditions and operational parameters (temperature, pH, substrate concentration, dissolved oxygen level, medium composition and the presence of metabolites) from a bioprocess engineering perspective, in order to maximize LKT yields.

© 2017 Pontificia Universidad Católica de Valparaíso. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	 96
2.	The expression profile of LKT	 96
3.	Process and kinetic parameters	 96
	3.1. Medium requirements and supplements	 96
	3.1.1. Carbon source	 97
	3.1.2. Amino acids	 97
	3.1.3. Vitamins	 97
	3.1.4. Trace elements	 97
	3.2. Process conditions	 98
	3.2.1. pH	 98
	3.2.2. Dissolved oxygen	 98
	3.2.3. Temperature	 98
	3.2.4. Inoculum density	
4.	Conclusion and outlook	 98
Con	lict of interest	 99
Ackı	nowledgments	 99
Refe	rences	 99

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: peter.czermak@lse.thm.de (P. Czermak).

Peer review under responsibility of Pontificia Universidad Católica de Valparaíso.

1. Introduction

Bovine respiratory disease (BRD) is economically the most important disease in the cattle industry although it also affects other wild and domestic ruminants [1,2,3,4]. The high morbidity and up to 50% mortality result in considerable losses [5] often approaching \$US 1 billion per year in the US cattle industry alone [6,7,8,9].

BRD is a complex multifactorial disease causing a severe form of pneumonia. A BRD outbreak typically occurs after transportation to feedlots, hence the common name for the disease is 'shipping fever' [4,10]. Although the mechanism of infection and the complex interactions among the host, pathogen and environment are not fully understood, *Mannheimia haemolytica* leukotoxin (LKT) is the predominant virulence factor [6,11,12,13,14,15].

M. haemolytica is a Gram-negative, facultative anaerobic, non-motile, opportunistic pathogen [16]. As a commensal organism of the upper respiratory tract and nasopharynx of healthy ruminants, it can colonize the lower respiratory tract of stressed or immunocompromised animals and overcome their innate immunity, causing pneumonia [7,16]. LKT is a 105-kDa, soluble, heat-labile protein that belongs to the repeat-in-toxin (RTX) family, and it has a dose-dependent effect. At low concentrations, LKT induces bovine cells to undergo a respiratory burst and degranulation thus causing inflammatory cytokine production. At higher concentrations, LKT induces apoptosis and the formation of transmembrane pores, the latter resulting in necrosis and the breakdown of the pulmonary immune system [8,13,17]. LKT is closely related to Escherichia coli α -hemolysin and is similarly encoded by a four-gene polycistrionic operon (lktCABD). The lktA gene encodes the inactive proLKT protein, whereas lktB and lktD encode proteins that promote secretion [18,19,20,21], and lktC encodes the enzyme that activates LKT by acylation [19]. The expression and activation of LKT has been comprehensively reviewed [12,19,22,23,24,25,26,27].

More than 20 M. haemolytica serotypes, subdivided into two biotypes (A and T), have been identified thus far, revealing a high degree of amino acid sequence diversity for LKT due to the complex gene mosaic structure [3,8,28,29,30]. The most relevant forms from a veterinary perspective are biotype A serotype 1 in cattle and biotype A serotype 2 in sheep [28,31]. The treatment of BRD typically involves aggressive antimicrobial therapy, combined with improved feedlot management and vaccination to prevent further outbreaks [6,8]. Although antimicrobials are widely used, they are becoming less effective due to the spread of antibiotic resistance [2,8,15,32]. The demand for BRD vaccines is therefore rising, and currently-available vaccines based on LKT as the predominant antigen are highly effective [33,34,35,36]. The role of several other virulence factors of M. haemolytica such as the capsule, outer membrane proteins (e.g. PIpE), neuraminidase, adhesins, and lipopolysaccharides have also been investigated for vaccine formulation [8,28,37,38,39,40]. A PIpE-LKT fusion protein as antigen showed a significant protection against a bacterial challenge [39,41,42]. Nevertheless, LKT provided as M. haemolytica supernatant is still the most relevant and successfully applied antigen for vaccination. However, the yields of LKT are often low [43,44] and it is unclear whether the rising demand for the vaccine can be met by current processes. This review article therefore focuses on the optimization of LKT yields in *M. haemolytica* from a bioprocess engineering perspective. Major process parameters such as temperature, dissolved oxygen concentration and media composition are considered based on the hypothesis that *M. haemolytica* experiences comparably dramatic changes in its physical environment during the course of infection.

2. The expression profile of LKT

LKT expression should occur during the log phase of cell growth but the precise expression profile remains uncharacterized [12,19,45,46,47, 48]. Moreover, higher growth rates and more biomass do not necessarily lead to higher LKT yields [44,49,50]. However, previous investigations often focused on M. haemolytica growth and LKT activity, and there is little correlation between the total amount of LKT in the culture supernatant and LKT activity [45]. One potential reason for this is the strong dependence of LKT activity on temperature. The complex and non-standardized preparation of samples for current LKT activity assays can lead to the rapid thermal inactivation of LKT, resulting in high standard errors [51]. Furthermore, there is high strain-dependent variability in terms of optimum LKT expression, making it difficult to generalize previous investigations [30,43,47,48,49]. As a result, cell growth rate and LKT activity are not strictly reliable as criteria for the optimization of LKT expression, and a clear differentiation among optimal cell growth, LKT activity and LKT expression is therefore necessary. The Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) is the most common and well established method to quantify LKT expression [38,52].

3. Process and kinetic parameters

The available data concerning *M. haemolytica* media and process requirements for cell growth and LKT production are limited and often contradictory (Table 1). However, *M. haemolytica* experiences dramatic changes in its physical environment during the course of infection, including changes in temperature, oxygen levels and nutrient availability. Therefore, critical factors such as media composition, pH, dissolved oxygen, inoculum density and their effects on cell growth and LKT expression are discussed in more detail below, including the impact of acetic acid as the major metabolic byproduct (Table 2, Table 3).

3.1. Medium requirements and supplements

LKT production usually involves a two-stage batch process including a change in the medium composition [44,47]. The most common media for LKT production are brain heart infusion (BHI) broth and chemically

 Table 1

 Critical medium components affecting M. haemolytica cell growth, LKT activity and LKT expression.

		Inhibitory/sub-optimal	Beneficial/essential
Complex media supplements	Growth	N/A	Yeast extract
	LKT expression	Yeast extract	N/A
	LKT activity	N/A	BSA, FCS
Carbon source	Growth	Galactose, glycerol, sucrose, lactate	Glucose
	LKT expression	N/A	N/A
Amino acids	Growth	L-Methionine	L-Alanine, L-Isoleucine
	LKT expression	The absence of amino acids	N/A
Vitamins	Growth	N/A	Calcium pantothenate, nicotinamide, thiamine
	LKT expression	N/A	N/A
Trace elements	Growth	$BSA + Fe^{3+} + Mg^{2+}, Ca^{2+}$	Fe^{3+} , Mg^{2+}
	LKT expression	$BSA + Fe^{3+} + Mg^{2+}, Ca^{2+}$	$Mn^{2+} + Fe^{3+}$
	LKT activity	$BSA + Fe^{3+} + Mg^{2+}, Ca^{2+}$	N/A

Table 2Critical process conditions affecting *M. haemolytica* cell growth, LKT activity and LKT expression.

		Non-permissive	Sub-optimal	Optimal
рН	Growth	≤6.5, ≥8.8	≤7.1, ≥7.9	7.2-7.8
	LKT activity	≤6.2	≤6.7, ≥6.9	6.8
	LKT expression	N/A	≤7.2 ^a	7.3-8.0 ^a
DO	Growth LKT activity LKT expression	N/A N/A N/A	Non-aerated Non-aerated Non-aerated	Aerated Aerated Aerated
Temp.	Growth	≤15.3°C, ≥43.2°C	≤36°C, ≥41°C	37–40°C
	LKT activity	N/A	N/A	N/A
	LKT expression	≤30°C	≤36°C, ≥41°C	37–40°C

a Qualitative SDS-PAGE analysis.

defined RPMI-1640 medium, which is often supplemented with fetal calf serum (FCS) or bovine serum albumin (BSA) [44,47]. However, FCS and BSA enhance LKT activity more than LKT expression [43,44,47, 53,54,55,56,57].

3.1.1. Carbon source

Various carbon sources have been used with M. haemolytica but glucose is the substrate of choice (Table 1, Table 3) [56,58]. However, glucose favors the production of large amounts of acetic acid as a metabolic byproduct, and the resulting drop in pH inhibits cell growth [44,58]. Up to 87% of the carbon derived from glucose can be channeled into acetic acid production once the glucose concentration rises above a certain threshold [44]. Although the critical glucose and acetic acid concentrations in M. haemolytica are unknown, the carbon overflow mechanism is probably similar to that reported in E. coli [44], which has a glucose threshold of 30 mg L^{-1} and an acetic acid inhibition constant (k_i) of 9 g L^{-1} [59,60].

Alternative carbon sources that support the efficient growth of *M. haemolytica* include D-xylose, D-mannitol, D-ribose, D-sorbitol and fructose, but these also promote the synthesis of acetic acid. In contrast, galactose, glycerol, sucrose and lactate do not promote the synthesis of acetic acid as much as other carbon sources, but they also result in slow growth rates [58].

3.1.2. Amino acids

The amino acid requirements of *M. haemolytica* are strictly limited to L-amino acids. Alanine and isoleucine are essential for rapid cell growth, whereas hydroxyproline, serine and either threonine or tryptophan are completely dispensable, and methionine even has a small inhibitory effect [61]. Furthermore, LKT is not produced under amino acid limiting conditions [56]. Therefore, amino acid supplements can achieve a significant boost in LKT expression levels especially when defined or semi-defined media are used. This predominantly reflects the increase in cysteine and glutamine levels, revealing a possible bottleneck for further optimization [44,49].

In contrast to the reports summarized above, van Rensburg and du Preez [49] found that when yeast extract is used as the amino acid source, LKT production is favored under amino acid limiting conditions compared to carbon limiting conditions. Nevertheless, du Preez [44] found that although yeast extract promotes cell growth, it also reduces the amount of LKT produced per cell because precursors and energy are committed to the accumulation of biomass, and this may explain the results presented by van Rensburg and du Preez [49]. The essential role of amino acids is supported by two hypotheses: (i) cysteine is essential for amino acid metabolism in *M. haemolytica* because this species cannot reduce sulfate for incorporation into sulfur-containing amino acids, and (ii) amino acids can also serve as a nitrogen source for *M. haemolytica* [44,56].

3.1.3. Vitamins

Only calcium pantothenate, nicotinamide, and the monophosphate or pyrophosphate of thiamine are thought to be essential for the optimal growth of *M. haemolytica*, but increasing the initial vitamin concentration does not appear to boost LKT expression [44,56,58]. Other common components such as biotin, folic acid, p-aminobenzoic acid, pyridoxine, riboflavin, hemin and oleic acid do not appear to affect cell growth [58,61].

3.1.4. Trace elements

Iron may be a key trace element required for the growth of *M. haemolytica* and this mineral is physiologically available as bovine transferrin with an iron level regulated by receptor expression [37,62].

 Table 3

 Overview of published process settings and yield coefficients for different M. haemolytica strains.

Strain	H-44L	-44L H-44L Biot		Biotype A, serotype 1 ^a		OVI-1		OVI-1			OVI-1
Medium	Casein	CDM	RPMI 1640	BHI	BHI + Ye	east extract	BHI	RPMI 1640	SDM ^b	SDM ^c	SDM ^b
Carbon source	Glc	Gal/Glc	Glc	Glc	Glc		Glc	Glc	Glc	Glc	Glc
Equipment	SF	SF	SF	SF	SF	BR	BR	BR	BR	BR	BR
Process mode	Batch	Batch	Batch	Batch	Batch	Batch	Batch	Batch	Batch	Batch	Conti.
T [°C]	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37	37
pН	7.4 ^d	7.4 ^d	6.8 ^d	6.8 ^d	7.3 ^d	7.3 ^d	7.3	7.3	7.3	7.3	7.3
DO [%]	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	≥30	≥30	≥30	≥30	≥30	≥30
n [rpm]	150	150	120	120	200	400-550	400-550	400-550	400-550	400-550	400-550
t [h]	12	25	4.0	4.0	3.5	3.0	3.5	5.5	4.5	9.5	N/A
OD _{575/600}	0.52	0.60	0.621	0.594	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
c _{Biomass} [g/L]	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	1.6 ^e	2.3 ^e	1.80	0.41	1.62	0.88	1.08
$\mu_{\text{max}} [h^{-1}]$	N/A	N/A	0.56	1.03	1.19	1.15	1.56	0.62	1.25	0.71	1.0 ^f
$Y_{x/s}$	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	0.56	0.20	0.52	0.17	0.60
c _{AA} [g/L]	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	1.9 ^e	2.08	1.80	1.73	1.40	2.41	1.05
c _{LKT} [g/L]	N/A	N/A	0.04^{g}	0.06^{g}	N/A	N/A	0.02	0.04	0.07	0.33	0.04^{g}
Reference	[58]	[61]	[43]		[70]		[49]				[44]

CDM = chemically-defined medium, SDM = semi-defined medium, Glc = glucose, Gal = galactose, SF = shake-flask, BR = bioreactor, T = temperature, DO = dissolved oxygen, n = agitation, t = cultivation time, $c_{Biomass}$ = biomass concentration, μ_{max} = maximum growth rate, $Y_{x/s}$ = biomass yield coefficient on glucose utilized, c_{AA} = acetic acid concentration, c_{LKT} = leukotoxin concentration.

- ^a Not further specified.
- b Glucose limited.
- c Amino acid limited.
- d No control.
- e Data obtained from diagram.
- $^{\rm f}$ Dilution rate.
- g Rounded to two decimal places.

Iron-supplemented RPMI-1640 medium increased the total biomass and maximum cell growth rate of *M. haemolytica* [43]. Previous investigations have indicated that iron is required for LKT secretion and that iron also induces the expression of the *lkt*CABD operon [18,43,46,49,62,63]. The co-presentation of manganese and ferric iron boosted LKT expression even further [49]. However, data have also been published showing greater *lkt* promoter activity under iron-limiting conditions [50]. This contradictory finding is supported by the regulation of other bacterial toxins, including outer membrane proteins and siderophores, where iron-limiting conditions stimulated their production [62,64,65,66,67].

Depending on which culture medium is used, the addition of 0.001–0.01 M magnesium can increase the total biomass [43,58], whereas the combination of BSA, magnesium and ferric iron resulted in lower biomass accumulation and a steep decline in the LKT yield [43]. Taken together, these data suggest that iron, magnesium and manganese are the most promising trace elements to promote *M. haemolytica* cell growth and LKT expression.

3.2. Process conditions

3.2.1. pH

In complex media, the highest maximum growth rate of M. haemolytica is achieved when the initial pH lies within the range 7.2–7.8 [49,58]. At pH values of \le 6.5 or \ge 8.8, growth slows down or even stops completely [49,58]. A similar optimum pH range (7.3–8.0) has been reported for LKT expression [46], but the data are based on qualitative SDS-PAGE analysis and the specific production rate per dry weight of cell biomass has not been reported. Within this optimum pH range, lkt promoter activity remains constant [50], but if the pH falls below 7.3 there is a reversible decline in LKT expression [46]. Interestingly, the optimum pH for LKT activity is 6.8, which is not within the optimal ranges for either cell growth or LKT expression [43].

Because *M. haemolytica* produces large amounts of acetic acid, pH shifts during cultivation are unavoidable. However, the concentration of phosphate or tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane (Tris) required to maintain a constant pH is toxic and therefore inhibits cell growth [58]. Recent efforts have focused on pH-controlled cultivation at pH 7.3 in bioreactor systems, because it is not possible to control the pH adequately in shake-flasks [49]. The production system and scale therefore play key roles in determining the yield of LKT.

3.2.2. Dissolved oxygen

M. haemolytica is a facultative anaerobic bacterium and can therefore grow either in the presence or absence of oxygen. Although the transcription of the *lkt*CABD operon is not dependent on the oxygen level [50] or even favored under anaerobic conditions [23], shake-flask experiments have nevertheless shown that increasing the aeration increases the growth rate and biomass accumulation [68]. Furthermore, well-aerated conditions achieved an almost four-fold increase in LKT production as well as a higher LKT activity compared to non-aerated conditions [45,49]. As a consequence, aerobic conditions are more suitable than anaerobic conditions for the production of LKT.

3.2.3. Temperature

M. haemolytica grows optimally at 37°C, and increasing the temperature up to 40°C does not have an impact on the growth rate [49]. Beyond these ranges, the growth rate decreases and eventually stops at ≤15.3°C or ≥43.2°C [45,49]. The optimum temperature range for LKT expression is 37–40°C. Expression declines at temperatures below 37°C and eventually stops at ≤30°C [45,46]. Studies of the *lkt* promoter have shown a reversible effect caused by shifting the temperature from 30°C to 42°C [50]. Depending on the individual needs in terms of product quality, the thermolability of LKT must be considered in greater detail.

3.2.4. Inoculum density

The total biomass of M. haemolytica cultures appears to be independent of the inoculum density at $OD_{575nm} = 0.02$ and $OD_{650nm} = 0.4$ [47,58]. Even inoculum densities of ≤ 10 cells mL^{-1} can achieve sufficient biomass concentrations, but the lag phase is longer when the inoculum density is this low, resulting in an extended cultivation period [58]. Increasing the inoculum density causes a slight decrease in the maximum growth rate (calculated from published data) [47], which may reflect early nutrient limitations in the RPMI-1640 medium. Depending on the production volume and the required product quality, it may be necessary to use a sub-optimal inoculum density. High inoculum densities reduce the overall cultivation time and therefore also the degree of LKT inactivation, whereas low inoculum densities are more suitable for seed scale-up.

4. Conclusion and outlook

This review summarizes the knowledge about bioprocess requirements for *M. haemolytica* cell growth and LKT production and emphasizing the importance and possibilities to further optimize the LKT production process for vaccine manufacturing. Previous investigations have focused mainly on LKT activity and cell growth, which are not strictly related to LKT expression. The considerable *M. haemolytica* strain variability may explain some of the contradictory results, and strain-specific optimization is therefore recommended.

Acetic acid is the major metabolic byproduct of LKT production in M. haemolytica and the amount of acetic acid produced often exceeds the amount of accumulated biomass. This is because up to 87% of the carbon from glucose can be channeled into the carbon overflow metabolism, resulting in the accumulation of acetic acid and a significant drop in pH. Interestingly, the effect of pH-controlled and uncontrolled conditions have not yet been compared. Nevertheless, the large amount of acetic acid produced under optimal conditions in batch cultures is likely to limit M. haemolytica cell growth and thus LKT production. Although a pH-controlled process would achieve better cell growth, the accumulation of acetic acid causes two further problems: (i) large amounts of ATP are required to expel protons and avoid the acidification of the cytoplasm [49], and (ii) large amounts of an alkaline solution would be needed to maintain a constant pH, which increases the osmolarity of the medium. No studies have yet been carried out to investigate the impact of osmolarity, and detailed investigations are necessary to determine the effect of acetic acid and its concomitant effects on M. haemolytica cell growth and LKT production. The control of acetic acid production may provide a key to optimizing the LKT yield. One potential approach would involve the modulation of the carbon overflow metabolism, which can be achieved in E. coli by controlling the oxygen level. Bioreactors are therefore preferable for M. haemolytica cultivation because they allow the dissolved oxygen and pH to be controlled simultaneously. Nevertheless, the most promising approach is a carbon limited fed-batch process to favor biomass accumulation while minimizing acetic acid production. A better understanding of the metabolic requirements of M. haemolytica is necessary to optimize the feed in a glucose-limited fed-batch process.

In addition to these physical parameters, the cultivation medium has a significant effect on *M. haemolytica* cell growth and LKT production. The nutritional requirements of *M. haemolytica* are not understood in detail, and the commonly-used RPMI-1640 medium was designed for mammalian cells. Optimization may require the absence of ferric iron, as well as low concentrations of glucose, magnesium and amino acids. More efficient LKT production and/or biomass accumulation is possible depending on which supplements are provided. Furthermore, industrial process development would also need to consider the interactions between upstream production and downstream purification, e.g. complex supplements and more biomass can make the purification of LKT more challenging and expensive [43,53,69].

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the Hessen State Ministry of Higher Education, Research and the Arts for financial support within the Hessen initiative for scientific and economic excellence (LOEWE).

References

- Bavananthasivam J, et al. Proximity-dependent inhibition of growth of Mannheimia haemolytica by *Pasteurella multocida*. Appl Environ Microbiol 2012;78(18):6683–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01119-12.
- [2] Katsuda K, Kohmoto M, Mikami O. Relationship between serotype and the antimicrobial susceptibility of Mannheimia haemolytica isolates collected between 1991 and 2010. Res Vet Sci 2013;94(2):205–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2012.09.015.
- [3] Katsuda K, et al. Serotyping of Mannheimia haemolytica isolates from bovine pneumonia: 1987–2006. Vet J 2008;178(1):146–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2007.07.019.
- [4] Lo RY. Genetic analysis of virulence factors of Mannheimia (Pasteurella) haemolytica A1. Vet Microbiol 2001;83(1):23–35.
- [5] Sanderson MW, Dargatz DA, Wagner BA. Risk factors for initial respiratory disease in United States' feedlots based on producer-collected daily morbidity counts. Can Vet J 2008;49(4):373–8.
- [6] Welsh RD, Dye LB, Payton ME, Confer AW. Isolation and antimicrobial susceptibilities of bacterial pathogens from bovine pneumonia: 1994–2002. J Vet Diagn Invest 2004; 16(5):426–31.
- [7] Lawrence PK, Kittichotirat W, McDermott JE, Bumgarner RE. A three-way comparative genomic analysis of Mannheimia haemolytica isolates. BMC Genomics 2010;11(1): 535. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-11-535.
- [8] Rice J, Carrasco-Medina L, Hodgins D, Shewen P. Mannheimia haemolytica and bovine respiratory disease. Anim Health Res Rev 2007;8(02):117–28. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S1466252307001375.
- [9] Kabeta T, Fikadu T, Zenebe T, Kebede G. Review on the pneumonic pasteurellosis of cattle. AJAD 2015;4(3):177-84. http://dx.doi.org/10.5829/idosi.ajad.2015.4.3.9674.
- [10] Harhay GP, et al. Complete closed genome sequences of Mannheimia haemolytica serotypes A1 and A6, isolated from cattle. Genome Announc 2013;1(3):e00188-13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/genomeA.00188-13.
- [11] Czuprynski CJ, et al. Complexities of the pathogenesis of Mannheimia haemolytica and Haemophilus somnus infections: Challenges and potential opportunities for prevention? Anim Health Res Rev 2004;5(02):277–82.
- [12] Mohamed RA, Abdelsalam EB. A review on pneumonic pasteurellosis (respiratory mannheimiosis) with emphasis on pathogenesis, virulence mechanisms and predisposing factors. Bulg J Vet Med 2008;11(3):139–60.
- [13] Singh K, Ritchey JW, Confer AW. Mannheimia haemolytica: Bacterial-host interactions in bovine pneumonia. Vet Pathol 2011;48(2):338-48. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0300985810377182.
- [14] Klima CL, Alexander TW, Hendrick S, McAllister TA. Characterization of Mannheimia haemolytica isolated from feedlot cattle that were healthy or treated for bovine respiratory disease. Can J Vet Res 2014;78(1):38–45.
- [15] Eidam C, et al. Complete genome sequence of Mannheimia haemolytica strain 42548 from a case of bovine respiratory disease. Genome Announc 2013;1(3):e00318-13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/genomeA.00318-13.
- [16] Lo RY, Sathiamoorthy S, Shewen PE. Analysis of in vivo expressed genes in Mannheimia haemolytica A1. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2006;265(1):18–25. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2006.00460.x.
- [17] Highlander SK, et al. Inactivation of Pasteurella (Mannheimia) haemolytica leukotoxin causes partial attenuation of virulence in a calf challenge model. Infect Immun 2000; 68(7):3916–22.
- [18] Strathdee CA, Lo RYC. Cloning, nucleotide sequence, and characterization of genes encoding the secretion function of the *Pasteurella haemolytica* leukotoxin determinant. J Bacteriol 1989;171(2):916–28.
- [19] Zecchinon L, Fett T, Desmecht D. How Mannheimia haemolytica defeats host defence through a kiss of death mechanism. Vet Res 2004;36:133-56. http://dx.doi.org/10.1051/vetres:2004065.
- [20] Lo RYC, Strathdee CA, Shewen PE. Nucleotide sequence of the leukotoxin genes of Pasteurella haemolytica Al. Infect Immun 1987;55(9):1987–96.
- [21] Highlander SK, Chidambaram M, Engler MJ, Weinstock GM. DNA sequence of the Pasteurella haemolytica leukotoxin gene cluster. DNA 1989;8(1):15–28.
- [22] Narayanan SK, Nagaraja TG, Chengappa MM, Stewart GC. Leukotoxins of gramnegative bacteria. Vet Microbiol 2002;84(4):337–56.
- [23] Uhlich GA, McNamara PJ, Iandolo JJ, Mosier DA. FnrP interactions with the Pasteurella haemolytica leukotoxin promoter. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2000; 186(1):73–7.
- [24] Davies RL, Campbell S, Whittam TS. Mosaic structure and molecular evolution of the leukotoxin operon (lktCABD) in Mannheimia (Pasteurella) haemolytica, Mannheimia glucosida, and Pasteurella trehalosi. | Bacteriol 2002;184(1):266–77.
- [25] Highlander SK, Hang VT. A putative leucine zipper activator of *Pasteurella haemolytica* leukotoxin transcription and the potential for modulation of its synthesis by slipped-strand mispairing. Infect Immun 1997;65(9):3970–5.

- [26] Highlander SK, Wickersham EA, Garza O, Weinstock GM. Expression of the *Pasteurella haemolytica* leukotoxin is inhibited by a locus that encodes an ATP-binding cassette homolog. Infect Immun 1993;61(9):3942–51.
- [27] Frey J, Kuhnert P. RTX toxins in Pasteurellaceae. Int J Med Microbiol 2002;292(3–4): 149–58. http://dx.doi.org/10.1078/1438-4221-00200.
- [28] Dassanayake RP, Shanthalingam S, Davis WC, Srikumaran S. *Mannheimia haemolytica* leukotoxin-induced cytolysis of ovine (*Ovis aries*) leukocytes is mediated by CD18, the β subunit of β 2-integrins. Microb Pathog 2007;42(5): 167–73. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2007.01.002.
- [29] Solana S, et al. N-Acetylneuraminic acid uptake in Pasteurella (Mannheimia) haemolytica A2 occurs by an inducible and specific transport system. FEBS Lett 2001;509(1):41-6.
- [30] Davies RL, Baillie S. Cytotoxic activity of Mannheimia haemolytica strains in relation to diversity of the leukotoxin structural gene lktA. Vet Microbiol 2003; 92(3):263–79.
- [31] Crouch C, et al. Cross protection of a Mannheimia haemolytica A1 Lkt-/Pasteurella multocida ΔhyaE bovine respiratory disease vaccine against experimental challenge with Mannheimia haemolytica A6 in calves, Vaccine 2012;30(13): 2320-8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.01.063.
- [32] Klima CL, et al. Genetic characterization and antimicrobial susceptibility of Mannheimia haemolytica isolated from the nasopharynx of feedlot cattle. Vet Microbiol 2011;149(3):390–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2010.11.018.
- [33] Sreevatsan S, Ames TR, Werdin RE, Yoo HS, Maheswaran SK. Evaluation of three experimental subunit vaccines against pneumonic pasteurellosis in cattle. Vaccine 1996;14(2):147–54.
- [34] Gentry MJ, Confer AW, Panciera RJ. Serum neutralization of cytotoxin from *Pasteurella haemolytica*, serotype 1 and resistance to experimental bovine pneumonic pasteurellosis. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1985;9(3):239–50.
- [35] Confer AW, Clinkenbeard KD, Gatewood DM, Driskel BA, Montelongo M. Serum antibody responses of cattle vaccinated with partially purified native Pasteurella haemolytica leukotoxin. Vaccine 1997;15(12):1423–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0264-410X(97)84247-8.
- [36] Subramaniam R, et al. A multivalent Mannheimia-Bibersteinia vaccine protects bighorn sheep against Mannheimia haemolytica challenge. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2011;18(10):1689–94. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/CVI.05276-11.
- [37] Roehrig SC, et al. The response of *Mannheimia haemolytica* to iron limitation: Implications for the acquisition of iron in the bovine lung. Vet Microbiol 2007; 121(3):316–29. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2006.12.013.
- [38] Tucci P, et al. Identification of Leukotoxin and other vaccine candidate proteins in a *Mannheimia haemolytica* commercial antigen. Heliyon 2016;2(9):e00158. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2016.e00158.
- [39] Batra SA, Shanthalingam S, Donofrio G, Srikumaran S. A chimeric protein comprising the immunogenic domains of *Mannheimia haemolytica* leukotoxin and outer membrane protein PlpE induces antibodies against leukotoxin and PlpE. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2016;175:36–41. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2016.05.004.
- [40] Ayalew S, Confer AW, Hartson SD, Shrestha B. Immunoproteomic analyses of outer membrane proteins of *Mannheimia haemolytica* and identification of potential vaccine candidates. Proteomics 2010;10(11):2151–64. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pmic.200900557.
- [41] Confer A, et al. Immunity of cattle following vaccination with a Mannheimia haemolytica chimeric PlpE-LKT (SAC89) protein. Vaccine 2009;27(11):1771–6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.09.028.
- [42] Guzmán-Brambila C, et al. LKTA and PIpE small fragments fusion protein protect against *Mannheimia haemolytica* challenge. Res Vet Sci 2012;93(3):1293–300. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2012.07.004.
- [43] Sun Y, Clinkenbeard K. Serum-free culture of Pasteurella haemolytica optimized for leukotoxin production. Am J Vet Res 1998;59(7):851–5.
- [44] Du Preez JC, van Rensburg E, Kilian SG. Kinetics of growth and leukotoxin production by Mannheimia haemolytica in continuous culture. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 2008; 35(6):611–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10295-008-0324-y.
- [45] Saadati M, Gibbs HA, Parton R, Coote JG. Characterisation of the leukotoxin produced by different strains of *Pasteurella haemolytica*. J Med Micorbiol 1997;46:276–84. http://dx.doi.org/10.1099/00222615-46-4-276.
- [46] Strathdee CA, Lo RYC. Regulation of expression of the Pasteurella haemolytica leukotoxin determinant. J Bacteriol 1989;171(11):5955–62.
- [47] Odendaal MW, Du Plessies L. The influence of Mannheimia haemolytica A1 seed culture inoculum cell density on the production of leukotoxin in submerged culture supernatant. J Vet Res 2000;67:205–16.
- [48] Odendaal MW, Ellis CE. The production and evaluation of Pasteurella haemolytica leukotoxin in the supernatant of submerged cultures in fermenters. J Vet Res 1999:66:265–72.
- [49] van Rensburg E, du Preez JC. Effect of pH, temperature and nutrient limitations on growth and leukotoxin production by *Mannheimia haemolytica* in batch and continuous culture. J Appl Microbiol 2007;102(5):1273–82. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2006.03205.x.
- [50] Marciel AM, Highlander SK. Use of operon fusions in Mannheimia haemolytica to identify environmental and cis-acting regulators of leukotoxin transcription. Infect Immun 2001;69(10):6231–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/IAI.69.10.6231-6239.2001.
- [51] Oppermann T, Schwarz S, Busse N, Czermak P. A fast and simple assay to quantify bacterial leukotoxin activity. EJBT 2016;24:38-42. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejbt.2016.10.001.
- 52] Van Rensburg E, Du Preez J, Ellis C. Quantification of Mannheimia haemolytica leukotoxin by indirect ELISA. Onderstepoort J Vet Res 2006;73(4):241–50.
- [53] Urban-Chmiel R, Wernicki A, Puchalski A, Mikucki P. Evaluation of Mannheimia haemolytica leukotoxin prepared in nonsupplemented and BSA or FBS supplemented RPMI 1640 medium. Pol J Vet Sci 2004;7(1):1–8.

- [54] Waurzyniak BJ, Clinkenbeard K, Confer A, Srikumaran S. Enhancement of *Pasteurella haemolytica* leukotoxic activity by bovine serum albumin. Am J Vet Res 1994;55(9): 1267–74
- [55] Confer AW, Durham JA. Sequential development of antigens and toxins of *Pasteurella haemolytica* serotype 1 grown in cell culture medium. Am J Vet Res 1992;53(5): 646-52
- [56] Highlander SK. Growth of Pasteurella haemolytica and production of its leukotoxin in semi-defined media. Am J Vet Res 1997;58(7):749–54.
- [57] Gatewood DM, Fenwick BW, Chengappa MM. Growth-condition dependent expression of *Pasteurella haemolytica* A1 outer membrane proteins, capsule, and leukotoxin. Vet Microbiol 1994:41:221–33.
- [58] Wessman GE. Cultivation of *Pasteurella haemolytica* in a casein hydrolysate medium. Appl Microbiol 1965;13(3):426–31.
- [59] Xu B, Jahic M, Enfors SO. Modeling of overflow metabolism in batch and fed-batch cultures of *Escherichia coli*. Biotechnol Prog 1999;15(1):81–90. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/bp9801087.
- [60] Gad SC. Handbook of pharmaceutical biotechnology., vol. 2John Wiley & Sons; 2007.
- [61] Wessman GE. Cultivation of *Pasteurella haemolytica* in a chemically defined medium. Appl Microbiol 1966;14(4):597–602.
- [62] Ogunnariwo JA, Schryvers AB. Iron acquisition in *Pasteurella haemolytica*: Expression and identification of a bovine-specific transferrin receptor. Infect Immun 1990; 58(7):2091–7.

- [63] Gentry MJ, Confer AW, Craven RC. Effect of repeated in vitro transfer of Pasteurella haemolytica A1 on encapsulation, leukotoxin production, and virulence. J Clin Microbiol 1987;25(1):142–5.
- [64] Tai SP, Holmes RK. Íron regulation of the cloned diphtheria toxin promoter in *Escherichia coli*. Infect Immun 1988;56(9):2430–6.
- [65] Bjorn MJ, Sokol PA, Iglewski BH. Influence of iron on yields of extracellular products in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* cultures. J Bacteriol 1979;138(1):193–200.
- [66] Kingsley R, et al. Iron supplying systems of Salmonella in diagnostics, epidemiology and infection. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 1995;11(4):257–64. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-695X.1995.tb00154.x.
- [67] Neilands JB. Microbial envelope proteins related to iron. Annu Rev Microbiol 1982; 36(1):285–309. http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.mi.36.100182.001441.
- [68] Davies RL, Parton R, Coote JG, Alison Gibbs H, Freer JH. Outer-membrane protein and lipopolysaccharide variation in *Pasteurella haemolytica* serotype A1 under different growth conditions. J Gen Microbiol 1992;138:909-22. http://dx.doi.org/10.1099/00221287-138-5-909.
- [69] Gentry MJ, Srikumaran S. Neutralizing monoclonal antibodies to *Pasteurella haemolytica* leukotoxin affinity-purify the toxin from crude culture supernatants. Microb Pathog 1991;10(5):411–7.
- [70] van Rensburg E, du Preez JC, Kilian SG. Influence of the growth phase and culture medium on the survival of Mannheimia haemolytica during storage at different temperatures. J Appl Microbiol 2004;96:154–61. http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2672.2003.02126.x.